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SHEIKH HASSAN ARIF, J: 

1. This Death Reference has been sent to us by 

the First Court of Additional Sessions Judge, 

Kushtia in view of the provisions under Section 

374 of the Code of Criminal Procedure seeking 

confirmation of the Death sentence imposed on 

three accuseds vide its judgment and order 

dated 15.03.2017 passed in Sessions Case No. 
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437 of 2012 upon convicting them under 

Sections 302/34 of the Penal Code. The 

accused-convicts having, in the meantime, 

preferred Criminal Appeal No. 3188 of 2017 

and 3459 of 2017 as well as Jail Appeal No. 

107 of 2017, 108 of 2017 and 109 of 2017, the 

same have also been taken up for hearing and 

disposal along with the Death Reference.  

2. Background Facts: 

2.1 The prosecution case, in short, is that the 

P.W.1, wife of deceased, Khabir Uddin, a 

valiant freedom fighter, lodged an FIR on 

08.02.2012 with the Daulatpur Police Station 

under Kushtia district alleging, inter-alia, that 

her deceased husband was a night guard of a 

motor house owned by Md. Bazlur Rahman, a 

neighbor. That, on 07.02.2012 at 07.30 pm, her 

husband left home for guarding the said motor 

house at Chorer Math area. In the next morning 
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at about 5.00 am, when one Aslam (P.W.6) 

went there for giving water, he found her 

husband dead. Accordingly, Aslam informed 

her and the people of the locality, who rushed 

to the spot and found her husband dead with a 

scarf tied around his neck. That her husband 

was killed in between 7.30 pm and 5.00 am of 

07.02.2012 and 08.02.2012 by some unknown 

people by strangulation with a scarf.  

 

2.2 Upon such FIR, the same was registered as 

Daulatpur Police Station Case No. 07 dated 

08.02.2012 under Sections 302/34 of the Penal 

Code. The case was then investigated by the 

P.W.11 (an S.I of the Police Station), who had 

already rushed to the spot on the strength of a 

G.D entry and prepared surathal report on the 

dead body in presence of the witnesses and 

seized some materials by preparing seizure list. 

During investigation, he prepared sketch map 
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and index in respect of the place of occurrence 

and arrested two of the accuseds, namely Md. 

Abdus Salam Sheikh and Md. Jamil Mondal. 

Both the accuseds then gave confessional 

statements before Judicial Magistrate. Thus, 

upon finding the allegations to be established 

prima-facie, P.W. 11 (investigating officer) 

submitted charge sheet, being Charge-Sheet 

No. 240 dated 18.08.2012, against all the three 

accuseds under Sections 302/34 of the Penal 

Code. After submission of the charge-sheet, 

another accused Abdul Hamid Malitha 

surrendered before the Court below. 

 

 

2.3  The case, being ready for trial, was sent to the 

Court of Sessions Judge, Kushtia and the same 

was registered as the Sessions Case No. 437 

of 2012. The Sessions Judge concerned then 

took cognizance of offences against all the 
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accuseds and sent the case records to the First 

Court of Additional Sessions Judge, Kushtia for 

trial upon fixing date for charge hearing. The 

trial Court then framed charge against all the 

sent up accuseds vide order dated 24.03.2013 

under Sections 302/ 34 of the Penal Code. The 

charge was read over to them, but they 

pleaded not guilty and demanded trial.  

 

2.4 During trial, the prosecution produced 12 

witnesses (P.W.1 to P.W.12), along with certain 

materials, to prove the charge. The said 

witnesses were examined and cross-examined 

by the parties. After recording of depositions of 

the witnesses and evidences, the trial Court 

examined all the accuseds under Section 342 

of the Code of Criminal Procedure for the first 

time on 18.07.2016. Thereupon, the accuseds 

pleaded not guilty and refused to give any 
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evidence in support of their defense. 

Subsequently, some witnesses were recalled 

and the said witnesses were examined and 

cross examined by the parties again. The trial 

Court then examined the accuseds under 

Section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

again on 15.11.2016. As against which, they 

further pleaded not guilty and refused to give 

any evidence. The trial Court then, after 

hearing the parties, delivered the impugned 

judgment and order dated 15.03.2017, thereby, 

convicting all the accuseds under Sections 

302/34 of the Penal Code and imposed death 

sentences on them and a fine of Tk.5000/- (five 

thousand) each. The trial Court then sent the 

case records to the High Court Division of the 

Supreme Court of Bangladesh for confirmation 

of the said death sentences in view of the 

provisions under Section 374 of the Code of 
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Criminal Procedure. The same has then been 

registered as Death Reference No. 34 of 2017 

after necessary formalities including 

preparation of paper books. The convicts 

having, in the meantime, preferred 

aforementioned Criminal Appeals and Jail 

Appeals, the same, along with the Death 

Reference, have been sent to this bench for 

disposal.  

3. Depositions of the Witnesses: 

3.1 As stated above, the prosecution has produced 

twelve witnesses to prove the charge. Before 

re-assessment of the evidences as against the 

submissions made by the learned Advocates 

appearing for the parties, let us first describe, in 

short, the material parts of the deposition of the 

witnesses as produced by the prosecution 

before the trial Court: 
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P.W.1 (Most. Urjina Begum) is the informant and 

wife of the deceased. She deposed that on 7th 

February, 2012 at 07.30, the occurrence took place 

when her husband, valiant freedom fighter Khabir 

Uddin, was guarding a motor pump house at Chorer 

Math area of Goalgram village. That, in the next 

morning, Aslam (P.W.6) informed her that her 

husband had been killed. She, along with her 

daughter and neighbours, then rushed to the spot at 

the motor house of Bozlu and found the dead body 

of her husband lying with a scarf wrapped around 

his neck. That her husband was killed by someone 

in between 07.30 pm of the last evening and 05.00 

am of the next morning by tying scarf around his 

neck. She then lodged the FIR after discussing with 

neighboring people wherein she could not give any 

names of the accuseds. That, subsequently, she 

filed a murder case in the Court by naming Salam, 

Mohsin, Bazlu, Fazlu, Intaz, Hamid and Mondol as 
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accuseds. Police then conducted investigation. She, 

accordingly, proved her FIR as Exhibit-1 and her 

signature thereon as Exhibit- 1/1. That police 

prepared surothal report wherein she signed and, 

accordingly, she proved the said surothal  as exhibit-

2 and her signature thereon as exhibit-2/1.  

 

In cross-examination by accused Salam and Jamil, 

she deposed that about 15 days after filing of the 

FIR, she filed a case in the Court naming some 

accuseds in the murder case and she came to know 

that Hamid, Jamal and Salam were made accuseds 

in the charge-sheet. That she did not see any 

occurrence and admitted that she did not have any 

previous case against the accuseds and that her 

husband was working as night guard in exchange for 

paddy without any payment. She further deposed in 

cross-examination that she filed the case in the 

Court after discussing with the local people when 



11 

 

Death Reference No. 34 of 2017 (Judgment dated 4th and 5th December, 2022) 

 

she suspected the accuseds. That police had beaten 

accused-Salam after arrest and that she did not 

have previous enmity with the accuseds.  

 

P.W.2 (Md. Mirajul Islam) is the cousin of the 

deceased. According to his deposition, the 

occurrence took place on the 7th day of 2nd month of 

2012 after 07.00 pm when deceased freedom fighter 

Khabir Uddin was guarding a motor machine at a 

motor house. This witness came to know in the next 

morning that Khabir was killed. He then rushed to 

the spot and found the dead body of Khabir lying 

with a scarf wrapped around his neck. He, 

subsequently, heard that three people had killed 

Khabir and that they admitted such killing before 

Magistrate; their names are Hamid, Jamil and 

Salam. 

 

In cross-examination on behalf of the accused 

Salam and Jamil, he deposed that he met deceased 
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Khabir in the evening during prayer and that he did 

not see the occurrence. That, in the morning, he met 

Urjina (P.W.1) and that he did not hear the names of 

the accuseds on that day. That P.W.1 separately 

filed case before the Court and that he does not 

know whether he was made witness in the said case 

and he also does not know the names of other 

witnesses in the said case. He then deposed that 

Khabir had previous enmity with Salam and that 

Khabir has been guarding the motor house of Bazlu 

for about one year during night. 

 

P.W. 3 (Dr. Taposh Kumar Sarkar) is the doctor 

who conducted post mortem on the deceased. He 

deposed that, on 08.02.2012 at about 12.30 noon, 

the dead body of deceased Khabir Uddin (65) was 

produced to him by one constable Sheikh Maruf 

Hossain and he commenced post mortem on it at 

1.30 on his own and, he, accordingly, found the 
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cause of death as “due to hemorrhage and shock and 

asphyxia as a result of blunt trauma to head and 

strangulation which was antemortem and homicidal in 

nature”. Accordingly, he proved the said post 

mortem report as Exhibit-3 and his signature there 

on as Exhibit-3/1. In cross- examination, he deposed 

that as per the opinion given by him, the death was 

not possible by tying himself with a rope. He then 

denied that the death was caused due to suicide. He 

also deposed that he mentioned physical injury in 

the report. 

 

P.W.4 (Md. Monjurul Imam) is the Judicial 

Magistrate who recorded the confessional 

statements of two of the accuseds, namely Md. 

Abdus Salam Sheikh and Md. Jamil Uddin Mondal. 

He deposed that, on 11.03.2012, he was working as 

Senior Judicial Magistrate at Kushtia when accuseds 

Jamil and Salam were produced to him for recording 
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confessional statements. He, accordingly, recorded 

the same in accordance with law. He first recorded 

the confessional statement of Jamil and then 

recorded confessional statement of Salam. He, 

accordingly, proved the confessional statement of 

Jamil as Exhibit-4 and six signatures there-on as 

Exhibit-4 series. He also proved the confessional 

statement of accused Salam as Exhibit-5 and six 

signatures on it as Exhibit-5 series.  

 

In cross-examination, he admitted that both the 

accuseds were produced at the same time for 

recording confession. That he gave 3.30 hours time 

to accused Jamil for reflection and he did not 

mention how much time was given to accused 

Salam. But he deposed that he started recording 

deposition of Salam at 4.35 pm. In cross- 

examination, he further deposed that he himself 

examined the accuseds and did not find any sign of 
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police torture on their bodies. Accordingly, he did not 

get them examined by doctor. He denied defence 

suggestion that the accuseds had sign of torture on 

the body and that they told him that they were 

confessing because of police torture. He further 

deposed that upon seeing their signatures the 

accused seemed to him as literate persons. In cross-

examination, he further deposed that although he 

did not specifically mention in the form that the 

confession of the accuseds were true and voluntary, 

he mentioned the same in different way and that the 

accuseds were kept in the room of steno, Rathindra 

Nath Ghosh, and that they were not in his Khash 

Kamra (private room). He denied that their 

confessional statements were not recorded in 

accordance with the Code of Criminal Procedure. He 

further deposed in cross-examination that he did not 

tell the accuseds that they would not be handed over 
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to police after confession because no such thing 

was mentioned in the Form.   

 

P.W. 5 (Md. Hafijul Islam) is the nephew of the 

deceased. According to his deposition, his uncle, 

deceased Khabir, was killed in the motor house 

about two years back where his uncle used to stay 

for running the motor. That Aslam saw the incident 

in the morning and saw that Khabir was killed by 

strangulation at the throat. That he heard that 

Salam, Jamil and Hamid had killed Khabir. That he 

also heard that Salam, Jamil and Hamid admitted 

their guilt before Magistrate. He, accordingly, 

identified the accuseds on the dock. In cross-

examination, he confirmed that Khabir was his full 

uncle and that he did not see any occurrence and 

that he heard that the accuseds had admitted guilt. 

He further deposed that he did not have any 

information whether the accuseds were beaten by 
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police. He again confirmed that accuseds did not 

have enmity with the deceased.  

 

P.W.6 (Md. Aslam Cheragi) is the cousin of the 

deceased. According to his deposition, deceased 

was killed two years back at the motor house by 

strangulation with a scarf. He heard that Salam, 

Jamil and Hamid had killed him and that they 

admitted their guilt before Magistrate. He, 

accordingly, identified the accuseds on the dock. 

That he heard about killing of deceased in the next 

morning. In cross-examination, he confirmed that 

Khabir was his brother and that he did not see the 

occurrence or that Khabir did not have enmity with 

the accuseds. He further deposed that Khabir used 

to guard the water pump and stay at the pump 

house. He heard from the village people that the 

accused had admitted guilt, but he could not 

remember the names of those people. He also 
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deposed that he did not know whether police had 

beaten the accuseds. 

 

P.W.7 (Md. Khoaj Hossen) was a UP Chairman at 

the relevant time. He deposed that he heard about 

the death of deceased on 08.02.2012. That he 

signed the surothal report and, accordingly, he 

identified his signature. In cross-examination, he 

deposed that he did not read the paper which was 

signed by him and that some other people also 

singed the same.  

 

 

P.W.8 (Monirul Islam) is the UP Member of 

Goalgram. According to him, freedom fighter Khabir 

Uddin died two and half years back and then police 

prepared a surothal report which he signed. 

Accordingly, he identified his signature as Exhibit-

2/3. 
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P.W.9 (Md. Samsul Haque) is a former UP 

Member. According to his deposition, freedom 

fighter Khabir Uddin died in February, 2012. That 

police then came and prepared the surothal report 

which he signed. Accordingly, he identified his 

signature as Exhibit-2/4. 

 

P.W.10 (Md. Shahin) is the son of the deceased. 

According to his deposition, the occurrence took 

place on 07.02.2012. That he was working as police 

constable on that day in Meherpur district. He heard 

that his father was killed in the house of shallow 

machine of his area by strangulation and that he 

was killed in between 07.00 pm of 07.02.2012 and 

early morning of 08.02.2012. That he reached the 

place of occurrence on 08.02.2012 and saw the 

police. That police prepared surothal report, which 

he signed. He, accordingly, identified his signature 

as Exhibit-2/5. He further deposed that he heard that 
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his father was called away by Salam and that in the 

morning of next day, i.e. on 08.02.2012, his father’s 

dead body was found. In cross- examination, he 

deposed that he came to depose as a private person 

and that he confirmed that he was police constable 

in Meherpur. He further deposed that he did not 

have any knowledge whether two FIRs were lodged 

in respect of his father’s killing. He deposed that he 

gave statement to police during investigation and 

that his mother gave deposition before Court and 

that his sister gave statement. He confirmed that he 

did not see any occurrence and that his father Kabir 

Uddin did not have enmity with any people in the 

village. He also confirmed that he signed the 

surothal report. 

 

P.W.11 (S.I Sawpan Kumar Das) was the 

investigating officer of the case. According to his 

deposition, at the relevant time, he was working at 
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Doulatpur Police Station on 08.02.2012 when the 

charge of investigation was handed over to him. 

Accordingly, he inspected the place of occurrence, 

prepared sketch map, index and surothal report and 

sent the dead body to the Kushtia General Hospital 

for post mortem to find out the cause of death. He, 

accordingly, seized the materials and arrested 

accused Salam and Jamil on suspicion and had their 

confessional statements recorded by a Magistrate 

under Section 164 of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure. He deposed that both the accuseds 

admitted that they and accused Abdul Hamid 

Malitha had killed victim Khabir Uddin out of 

previous enmity. He further deposed that he had 

recorded statements of the witnesses under Section 

161 and, in his investigation, he found the allegation 

of killing against accuseds Abdus Salam, Jamil 

Mondal and absconding accused Abdul Hamid 

Malitha as prima-facie established and, accordingly, 
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he submitted charge-sheet against them, being 

Charge Sheet No. 240 dated 18.08.2012, under 

Sections 302/34 of the Penal Code. Accordingly, he 

identified his signature on the surothal report 

prepared by him as Exhibit-2/6. He also proved the 

seizure list as Exhibit-6 and his signature thereon as 

Exhibit 6/1. He deposed that he had seized some 

materials, namely a piece of brown colour jacket, 

piece of white check shirt, piece of white stripe lungi, 

piece of blue stripe scarf as Material Exhibit-I and 

that he found those materials with the dead body. 

According to his deposition, the deceased was killed 

by strangulation with a scarf. He, accordingly, 

proved the sketch map and index as Exhibits-7 and 

8 and his signatures there on as Exhibits-7/1 and 8/1 

respectively. He also proved the chalan of the death 

body as Exhibit-9 and his signature thereon as 

Exhibit-9/1. He then identified the accuseds Salam 

and Jamil on the dock. He deposed that Hamid 
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Malitha was absconding till submission of the 

charge-sheet. In cross-examination, he deposed that 

the FIR was recorded by O.C. Sheikh Lutfor 

Rahman and that this witness investigated the case. 

In cross-examination, he admitted that P.W.1-Urjina 

Begum filed a complaint before the Magistrate 

naming seven persons as accuseds and the said 

complaint was sent to him by the Court for 

submission of report. That Salam Sheikh, Fazlul 

Haque, Mohosin Ali, Entaj Ali, Moklesur Rahman 

and Abdul Hamid were named in the said complaint 

petition and that the said complaint petition was lying 

with the case docket. That Mohosin Sheikh was not 

named in the complaint petition. He deposed that he 

investigated both the complaint petition and the FIR 

side by side. He also deposed that he did not submit 

any final report in respect of four persons named in 

the complaint petition, namely Moklesur Rahman, 

Entaj Ali, Fazlul Haque and Mohosin Ali and he did 
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not submit any separate investigation report before 

the Magistrate in respect of the said complaint 

petition. But, according to him, he submitted 

separate report in respect of the complaint petition 

and that the said report was lying with the record of 

the complaint petition being Misc. 28/12. He 

confirmed that the FIR did not name any accuseds 

and that he arrested Jamil on the basis of a source. 

He also admitted in cross-examination that he did 

not find any eye witnesses as to the killing of the 

deceased. He admitted that P.W. 10-Shahin was the 

son of the deceased and that Shahin was employed 

in police department, but Shahin did not file a case 

on his own. He also deposed in cross-examination 

that he did not seize any paper in support that 

Khabir Uddin was a freedom fighter. He further 

confirmed that the piece of brown colour jacket, 

piece of white stripe shirt, piece of white stripe lungi 

and piece of blue colour scarf were seized by him. 
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However, he did not mention in the seizure list that 

the said materials were worn by the deceased. He 

again deposed in cross-examination that although 

the dead body was sent by constable Maruf, he was 

not made a witness in the charge-sheet and that 

nobody stated in Section 161 statement that Khabir 

had any enmity with the accuseds. He further 

deposed that he could not arrest accused Hamid 

Malitha and that he did not know whether Hamid 

Malitha surrendered voluntarily or he got bail from 

the High Court. He then deposed that accused 

Salam was arrested from his own house and Jamil 

was arrested from Jhinaidah district with the help of 

Kakiladah police camp under Horinakunda Police 

Station on 11.03.2012. That accused Salam was 

also arrested on 11.03.2012. He denied the defence 

suggestion that being influenced by the son of 

deceased, accuseds Salam and Jamil were 

compelled by torture for giving confessional 
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statements. He further denied that the said 

accuseds were in fact produced before the Court on 

13.03.2012. He also denied the suggestion that 

Salam and Jamil were arrested on the tip-off given 

by P.W. 10-Shahin. But he admitted in cross- 

examination that he did not make the pump owner 

witness in the case and that he did not seize any 

paper in support of Khabir’s employment at the 

Bazlu’s pump. He denied the defense suggestion 

that none of the witnesses said that they saw Khabir 

going to the pump house. He also denied the 

defence suggestion that since the son of the 

deceased was employed in police department, this 

witness extorted the confessional statements of the 

accuseds taking his side. Upon re-call, this witness 

replied in cross-examination that accused Jamil 

Uddin Mondol was arrested from village Berbinni 

under Harinakundu Police Station of Jhenaidah 

District  and that accused Salam was arrested from 
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his house at Goalgram village under Doulatpur 

Police Station, and both the accuseds were 

produced before the Court on 11.03.2012. In cross-

examination, he identified the location of Kushtia 

Sadar Police Station as well as the distance of 

Harinakundu Police Station and he admitted that the 

distance between the two places of arrest was 100-

110 km. He denied the defence suggestion that he 

did not submit any report in the petition case filed by 

P.W.1 and deposed that he mentioned in the C.D. 

that he had submitted such report. He further 

admitted that he did not name the Magistrate, who 

recorded 164 statements, as a witness in the 

charge-sheet and, according to him, he did not feel it 

necessary to make him a witness. He further 

deposed in cross-examination that on 11.03.2012 at 

11.55, both the accuseds Salam and Jamil were 

produced before the Magistrate for making 

confessional statements. He denied the defence 
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suggestion that he submitted perfunctory charge-

sheet being influenced by the informant party.  

 

P.W.12 (Sheikh Maruf Hossain) was the constable 

at the police station concerned. According to his 

deposition, on 08.02.2012 at 11.05, he rushed to the 

shallow machine house owned by Bazlu of 

Goalgram Dakkhin Char area under Doulatpur 

Police Station. That Chowkider Sirajul opened the 

door of the house and he found dead body of 

deceased Khabir Uddin lying on a bed with scarf 

being wrapped around his neck. That S.I. Sawpon 

(P.W-11) prepared surathal report and this witness 

took the body to Kushtia General Hospital for post 

mortem by a chalan. Accordingly, he proved the said 

chalan and his signature thereon as Exhibit-9/2.                              

4. Submissions:   

4.1 At the outset of the hearing, learned Deputy 

Attorney General, appearing for the State, has 
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placed the entire materials from the paper book 

as well as the materials lying with the lower 

Court records one after another and finally has 

made extensive submissions in favour of 

confirmation of the death sentences of all the 

three accuseds. On the other hand, learned 

Advocates, namely Mr. Raghib Rauf Chowdhury 

and Mr. Md. Ashif Hasan, have made extensive 

submissions in favour of the appellants in the 

aforesaid appeals seeking their acquittal. 

However, for the sake of convenience, we will 

refer to the submissions made by the learned 

Advocates for the appellants first followed by the 

submissions of the learned Deputy Attorney 

General for the State. 

 

4.2  Mr. Raghib Rauf Chowdhury, learned Advocate 

appearing for the appellants-Md. Abdus Salam 
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Sheikh and Md. Jamil Mondol has made the 

following submissions: 

(a) That the conviction is entirely based on 

confessional statements of the appellants, 

although the same were not recorded in 

accordance with law and as such the 

same was not true and voluntary, 

particularly when one of the prosecution 

witnesses, namely P.W.1, has 

categorically deposed that accused Md. 

Abdus Salam Sheikh was beaten by 

police. 

(b) That there is huge doubt as regards the 

date of arrest of both the accuseds and 

that the accuseds were arrested at least 

2/3 days before recording of the 

confessional statements and they were 

tortured in the police custody to make 

such confession because of the role 
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played by the son of the deceased 

(P.W.11), who was admittedly a Police 

constable at the relevant time. 

(c) That it is humanly impossible to arrest 

both the accuseds on the same day, 

particularly when they were arrested from 

two different adjacent districts which were 

about 110 km away from each other. 

Therefore, according to him, the 

confessional statements cannot be 

regarded as voluntarily confessional 

statements and the same cannot be the 

basis of any conviction, particularly when 

there was no eye witness to the 

occurrence. 

(d) Further referring to the very confessional 

statements of both the convicts, he 

submits that both the confessional 

statements are so similar that it may easily 
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be presumed that the same has been 

drafted by the same person. Therefore, 

according to him, such similarity of two 

confessional statements allegedly given 

by two accuseds cast a serious doubt 

about the truthfulness of the same. 

(e) By referring to a complaint petition filed by 

the P.W.1 (informant) few days after 

lodging the FIR, he submits that relevant 

provisions of Section 205D of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure were not complied 

with by the Courts below, particularly 

when no report has been submitted by the 

investigating officer on the said petition of 

complaint although the same was sent to 

the investigating officer by the Court 

below. 

(f)  Further referring to the motive of killing 

indicating previous dispute between the 
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deceased and accused Md. Abdus Salam 

Sheikh, as revealed from the confessional 

statements, he submits that none of the 

prosecution witnesses deposed a single 

word before the trial Court as regards 

such previous enmity. Therefore, so far as 

truthfulness of the confessional 

statements of accuseds are concerned, 

the same casts serious doubt on 

themselves.  

(g) By referring to Section 342 examination of 

two accuseds done by the trial Court 

below, he submits that the examination 

done by the trial Court was perfunctory in 

nature and it even did not refer any of the 

circumstances appearing in evidences to 

the accuseds. Therefore, according to 

him, the accuseds have been highly 

prejudiced and, accordingly, the trial was 
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vitiated. In support of his such 

submissions, he has referred to the 

decisions of this Court in Habibur 

Rahman vs. State, 18 BLC (AD)-218, 

State vs. Monu Miah, 54 DLR (AD)-60 

and Abdul Kashem vs. State, 49 DLR-

573.  

(h) As regards confessional statements of 

both the accuseds, he submits that both of 

them have retracted their confessional 

statements stating therein that the same 

were taken by applying force and coercion 

on them.  

(i) Alternatively, he submits that even if the 

conviction against these accuseds is 

affirmed, the sentence should be 

commuted, particularly when these 

accuseds do not have any record of 

previous criminal activity and that they are 
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young people and have already served in 

jail for 10 (ten) years including 5(five) 

years in condemned cell.  

4.3 Mr. Md. Ashif Hasan, learned advocate 

appearing for the appellant- Abdul Hamid 

Malitha, has made the following submissions: 

(I) That the conviction of this appellant is 

merely based on the confessional statement 

of the two co-accuseds and as such, 

according to the long standing principle 

established by our Apex Court, the 

conviction against this appellant cannot 

sustain in the eye of law, particularly when 

there was no eye witness to the occurrence 

and that the prosecution did not have any 

independent evidence to substantiate the 

charge against him. In support of his such 

submissions, he has referred to some 

decisions of this Court in State Vs. Abdur 
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Rahim 10 DLR-61 and Amir Hossain 

Hawlader Vs. The State 1984 BLD (AD)-

193. 

(II) As regards latest decision of our Appellate 

Division in favour of convicting an accused 

on the basis of confessional statement of 

co-accused, namely the case of Shukur Ali 

Vs. State, 74 DLR (AD)-11 and Noor 

Mohammad Vs. State, 74 DLR (AD)-170, 

he submits that the facts of those cases 

decided by the Appellate Division and 

present case are highly distinguishable 

inasmuch as that in the said cases, the 

accused remained absconding for long time, 

but in the present case, this accused 

surrendered before the Court below 

immediately after submission of the charge-

sheet. Therefore, according to him, the ratio 
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decided in the said cases cannot be applied 

in the present case.  

(III) By referring to the retraction applications 

filed by the co-accuseds, Md. Abdus Salam 

Sheikh and Md. Jamil Mondol, he submits 

that the confessions given by them have in 

the meantime become retracted 

confessions. Therefore, the value of these 

retracted confessions as against this 

appellant is merely zero. In support of his 

such submissions, he has referred to a 

decision of our Appellate Division in Amir 

Hossain Howlader Vs. State, 37 DLR 

(AD)-139. 

(IV) By referring to the Section 342 examination 

of this accused as done by the trial Court 

below, he submits that none of the 

incriminating materials or circumstances 

appearing in evidence against this accused 
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has been referred to him during such 

examination. Not only that, he submits, even 

the confessional statements of the 

accuseds, the very basis of the conviction of 

this accused, were not referred to him 

seeking his reply. Therefore, according to 

him, the conviction against this accused 

cannot be maintained on the basis of such 

confessional statement of co-accuseds, 

particularly when the said confessional 

statements do not come within the purview 

of the definition of evidence as provided by 

Section 3 of the Evidence Act and that this 

accused did not get the opportunity to cross- 

examine the said co-accuseds on their 

alleged statements in the said confessional 

statements. Therefore, he submits that the 

entire trial as against this accused has been 

vitiated. In support of his such submissions, 
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he has referred to a latest decision of our 

Appellate Division in Md. Abdul Awal Khan 

Vs. The State, 16 SCOB [2022] AD-22. 

(V) According to him, sending the case on 

remand to the trial Court for doing Section 

342 examination again in accordance with 

law will be a sheer injustice to the accuseds, 

particularly when they have in the meantime 

been in jail and condemned cell for about 10 

(ten) years. Accordingly, he prays for 

acquittal of this accused.  

4.4 As against above submissions, Mr. Harunur 

Rashid, learned Deputy Attorney General 

representing the State, has made the following 

submissions:  

(a) That this is a case of strong 

circumstantial evidence as there is 

admittedly no eye witness to the 
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occurrence. By drawing this Court’s 

attention to the case dairy lying with the 

lower Court records as well as date and 

time of arrest of the accuseds Md. 

Abdus Salam Sheikh and Md. Jamil 

Mondol, he submits that there is no 

impossibility in arresting both the 

accuseds on the same day, particularly 

when Salam was arrested at 2.05 am 

and Jamil was arrested about two and 

half hours later from an adjacent district 

in the midnight following 11.03.2012. 

Therefore, according to him, since both 

of them were arrested in the midnight 

when there was no traffic on the road, it 

was quite possible by police to arrest 

them from two adjacent districts which 

are away from one another by 110 km. 

Thus, he submits that the submission of 
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the learned Advocate for the said two 

accuseds as regards time and date of 

arrest has no substance.  

(b) He further submits that since the 

arresting officer or investigating officer 

was not specifically cross examined by 

the defense lawyers on this point of date 

and time of arrest, the appellants cannot 

raise this issue before this appellate 

Court at all, particularly when they were 

produced before the learned Magistrate 

on 12.03.2012 i.e. within the quickest 

possible time. Therefore, he submits 

that the allegation of torture or any 

irregularity in arresting or producing the 

said accuseds before the Magistrate do 

not have any substance.  

(c)    As regards similarity of both the 

confessions, learned DAG submits that 
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this similarity further proves that the 

confessing accuseds revealed the truth 

and this will go in favour of the 

prosecution, particularly when the 

recording Magistrate (P.W.4) deposed 

before the trial Court that he did not find 

any sign of torture on the body of the 

confessing accuseds. 

(d)  By referring to the retraction application 

of the accuseds Md. Abdus Salam 

Sheikh and Md. Jamil Mondol, learned 

DAG submits that they were not even 

signed by the accuseds. Rather, they 

were the product of an advocate 

representing them, who merely filed an 

application of retraction by signing it 

himself and the same did not come 

through the proper jail authority. 

Therefore, such retraction application 
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should not be treated at all as retraction 

application of the accuseds.  

(e)    By referring to the Section 342 

examination of accuseds- Salam and 

Jamil, he submits that their confessional 

statements were referred to them during 

Section 342 examinations. Therefore, to 

that extent, no illegality has been 

committed. In support of his such 

submissions, he has referred to the case 

of Khalil Mia Vs. State, 4 BLC (AD)-

223.  

(f) That during the entire trial, all the three 

accuseds saw and heard the entire 

evidences produced by the prosecution 

and their advocates extensively cross-

examined the prosecution witnesses 

before their very eyes in Court. 

Therefore, they cannot raise the point of 
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prejudice as regards Section 342 

examination on the ground that those 

evidences were not referred to them 

during such examination. 

(g)  By referring to the latest decisions of 

our Appellate Division in Shukur Ali Vs. 

State, 74 DLR (AD)-11 and Noor 

Mohammad Vs. State, 74 DLR (AD)-

170, learned DAG submits that our 

Appellate Division has in the meantime 

repeatedly held that an accused may be 

convicted on the basis of confessional 

statement of co-accused, if such 

confession is believed to be the true. 

Therefore, according to him, accused 

Abdul Hamid Malitha also does not have 

any case before this Court for acquittal. 

(h) That defect or irregularity, if any, in 

Section 342 examination done by the 
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trial judge cannot be attributable to the 

fault on the part of the prosecution and 

such defects are mere procedural 

irregularity and the same can be cured 

by sending the case on remand for 

doing Section 342 examination again. In 

support of his such submissions, he has 

referred to the cases decided by our 

Appellate Division in Sohel Vs. State, 

63 DLR (AD)-125 and the majority 

decision of our Appellate Division in 

Criminal Appeal No. 40 of 2008. 

 

5. Scrutiny of Evidences:   

5.1 There is no dispute in this case that the 

deceased is valiant freedom fighter Khabir Uddin 

and, according to the post mortem report, he 

ended up with an unnatural death by  throttling 

and/or blunt trauma on the head which were 



46 

 

Death Reference No. 34 of 2017 (Judgment dated 4th and 5th December, 2022) 

 

ante-mortem and homicidal in nature. The 

identification of the dead body of the deceased 

was also not disputed in this case P.W.1 and 

P.W.2 deposed before the Court that they saw 

the dead body in the next morning in the motor 

house owned by Bazlur Rahman and that the 

neck of the deceased was tied up with scarf. The 

injuries found in the post mortem report (Exhibit-

3) also are supported by surothal report findings 

(Exhibit-2). The said surothal report has been 

proved by various prosecution witnesses, 

namely P.W.1, P.W. 2, P.Ws. 7-11and the doctor 

(P.W. 3), who had conducted post mortem on 

the dead body, also proved the said post mortem 

report and findings therein. Therefore, it has 

been proved by the prosecution beyond 

reasonable doubt that this is a case of killing of 

valiant freedom fighter Khabir Uddin. 
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5.2 However, admitted position is that nobody saw 

as to who killed the deceased as the occurrence 

took place in a dreadful night at Chorer Math in a 

motor house. The details as to the manner of 

occurrence were disclosed from the confessional 

statements of accuseds Salam and Jamil. 

Therefore, if the prosecution can establish that 

those two confessional statements are voluntary 

and   true in nature, the same may be used 

against the confessing accuseds and the non-

confessing co-accused (to some extent) for their 

convictions. Besides, since the copy of the 

petition of complaint was filed by P.W.1 

(informant) was sent to the investigating officer, 

no complaint case was instituted or registered.  

Thus Section 205D of the Code does not have 

any manner of application in this case. This 

being so, let us first examine whether the said 

confessional statements as well as other 
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evidences on record have established the guilt of 

the accused Salam and Jamil. 

Md. Abdus Salam Sheikh and Md. Jamil Mondol: 

 

5.3 It may, at the outset, be noted that the said 

confessional statements of the said two 

accuseds were proved by the Magistrate, who 

recorded the same, as P.W.4. Jamil’s confession 

was proved as exhibit-4 and Abdus Salam’s 

confession was proved as exhibit-5. The 

signatures of the accuseds as well as the 

Magistrate concerned were also identified by the 

said Magistrate before the trial Court and they 

were also marked by the trial Court as exhibits. 

The said confessional statements (Exhibit-4 and 

5) are reproduced below:  

Confession of Jamil: 

Avwg ivRwgw¯¿i KvR Kwi| NUbvi cªvq 24/25 w`b Av‡M wbnZ 

gyw³‡hv×v Lwe‡ii fvwZRv Rv‡K‡ii mv‡_ Avgvi gvgvZ fvB Avãym 

mvjv‡gi ‡Mvj‡hvM nq| Qvjvg Rv‡Ki‡K nvmyqv w`‡q 3/4 Uv †Kvc 
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gv‡i| Lwei GB wb‡q _vbvq bvwjk w`‡j ‡mLv‡b kvwjk nq| kvwj‡k 

Avãym mvjv‡gi 10000/- UvKv Rvwigvbv nq| wKš‘ Zvi ci I Lwei 

(wbnZ) mvjvg‡K Mvwj MvjvR K‡i| Lwei mvjv‡gi ”vPvi cvwbi cv¤ú 

PvjvZ| weavq Lwei mvjvg‡K eKvewK Kivq ‡m e‡j Avgvi PvPvi 

Lv‡e, ci‡e Ai Avgv‡K eK‡e Zv n‡e bv| ‡m cÖwZ‡kva wb‡Z hvq| 

ZLb Avmvgx Qvjvg, nvwg`, wcZv-bwRi gvwj_v, Giv hyw³ K‡i| 

Avwg ZLb wS‡b`v‡Z kªwg‡Ki KvR KiwQjvg| Qvjvg Avgv‡K †dvb 

K‡i Ges wRÁvmv K‡i Avwg evox‡Z Avme wKbv| Avwg ewj Kv‡Ri 

Pvc Av‡Q c‡i Avme| AZtci 5/6 w`b c‡i Avgvi †g‡q Amy¯’ n‡j 

Avwg evox P‡j Avwm| Qvjvg NUbvi w`b (7/2/12 Zvwi‡L) ivZ 8/9 

Uvi w`‡K Avgv‡K Wv‡K Ges k¨v‡jv g¨vwk‡bi HLv‡b P‡ii gv‡V 

†h‡Z ej‡j Avwg hvB| †mLv‡b ‡h‡q Qvjvg, nv‡g`, Lwei‡K 

(gyw³‡hv×v) †`wL| Qvjvg gyw³‡hv×v Lwei‡K k¨v‡jv †gwk‡bi N‡i 

†h‡q Nygv‡Z e‡j| ZLb Lwei N‡i †h‡q ï‡q c‡o| LvwbK c‡i 

Qvjvg H N‡i cª‡ek K‡i| 5/10 wgwbU gZ c‡i nv‡g` I N‡i hvq| 

Avgv‡K Iiv Wv‡K| †h‡q ‡`wL nv‡g` Lwei (gyw³‡hv×vi) nv‡Z I gyL 

†P‡c a‡i‡Q| Avgv‡K e‡j cv ai‡Z Avwg cv awi| Qvjvg Mjvq 

gvdjvi w`‡q †cwP‡q a‡i †g‡i †d‡j| Avgiv P‡j Avwm| Avwg 

c‡ii w`b wS‡b`v P‡j hvB| nvwg` Avgv‡K a‡i wb‡q Av‡m| GB 

Avgvi Revbew›`|  

Confessional of Md. Abdus Salam:  

Avwg Avgvi evevi mv‡_ Kv‡Vi e¨emv KiZvg| gyw³‡hv×v Lwei 

Avgvi PvPv eRjyi cvwbi cv¤ú PvjvZ| Avwg gv‡V Nvm KvU‡Z †M‡j 

gyw³‡hv×v Lwe‡ii fvwZRv RvwK‡ii mv‡_ Avgvi gvivgvwi nq| Avwg 
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nvmyqv w`qv 4/5 Uv †Kvc w`‡j Ii kixi ‡K‡U hvq| Lwei _vbvq 

bvwjk w`‡j _vbvq kvwjk nq| ‡mLv‡b Avgv‡K 10,000/- UvKv 

Rwigvbv K‡i| ZviciI Lwei Avgv‡K MvwjMvjvR Ki‡Z _v‡K| 

Avgvi Rwg‡ZI wVKgZ cvwb w`Z bv| ZvB Avwg Ii Dci cÖwZ‡kva 

‡bIqvi wm×vš— wbB| Avwg Avgvi cÖwZ‡ekx nv‡g‡`i mv‡_ K_v ewj 

Ges Lwei‡K †g‡i †djvi wm×vš— wbB| AZtci Avwg Avgvi dzdvZ 

fvB Rv‡g‡ji mv‡_ †gvevB‡j K_v ewj I Zv‡K MÖv‡g Avm‡Z ewj| I 

Avm‡Z A¯x̂Kvi K‡i| 2/3 w`b ci Rvwg‡ji †g‡q Amy¯’ n‡j 

07/2/12 Zvwi‡L Rvwgj evox Av‡m| H w`b ivZ 08 Uvi w`‡K Lwei 

gv‡V hvq| Zvi c‡i Avwg nv‡g‡`i wb‡q H gv‡V cvwbi cv‡¤úi Kv‡Q 

hvB| Rvwgj‡K ivZ 8.45 Uvi w`‡K †dvb w`B| Rvwgj 9.00 Uvi 

w`‡K H Lv‡b †cuŠwQ‡j Avgiv K_v ewj| Lwei‡K cv‡¤úi N‡i †h‡q 

Avwg Nygv‡Z ewj| Lwei N‡i †h‡q ï‡q c‡o| wKQy¶b c‡i Avwg 

‡mLv‡b hvB| ivZ 10.00/11.00 Uvi g‡a¨ Avwg nvwg`‡K WvwK| 

nvwg`yj Lwei (gyw³‡hv×vi) nvZ I gv_v †P‡c a‡i| Rvwgj Ii cv 

†”‡c a‡i| Avwg Ii Mjvq _vKv gvdjvi w`‡q ‡cwP‡q a‡i duvm 

jvwM‡q nZ¨v Kwi| Lwei gviv ‡M‡j Avwg mn mevB evB‡i Avwm| 

Avwg GKwU we‡kl Kvq`vq evnxi ‡_‡K wfZ‡ii wQUwKwb AvU‡K 

w`B| Avwg gyw³‡hv×vi RvbvRvq Ask MÖnb Kwi| Avwg Ab¨vq K‡iwQ 

¶gv cÖ_©bv Kwi| GB Avgiv Revbe›`x|   

 

5.4 It appears from the case dairy and the said 

confessional statements that accused Salam 

was arrested at 2.05 am, which is technically on  
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12.03.2012, i.e. the midnight  followed by 

11.03.2012, and accused Jamil was arrested 

after two and half hours from an adjacent district, 

namely Jhinaidah. Since the distance between 

two places of arrest is admittedly about 110 km, 

learned advocate for the appellant has posed a 

doubt that such arrest of two persons from two 

different districts within two and half hours was 

not humanly possible.  

5.5 Admittedly, they were arrested at midnight 

following the day of 11.03.2012. Salam was 

arrested at 2.05 am from his house in Kushtia 

district and Jamil was arrested at about 4.35 am 

from Jhenaidah district with the help of the local 

police of Jhenaidah, and both of them were 

produced before the Magistrate in the morning at 

about 11.00 am on 12.03.2012. Since the time of 

such arrest was midnight and it is quite 

understandable that at a place like Kushtia and 
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Jhenaidah the traffic would be very minimum at 

that time, particularly on the highways, we do not 

find any substance in the submission of the 

learned advocate that it was not humanly 

possible to arrest both of them from two different 

adjacent districts within a span of time of two 

and half hours.  

5.6 As regards alleged torture or coercion, we have 

checked the very confessional statements of 

both the accuseds, wherein the Magistrate 

categorically stated that he did not find any such 

sign of torture. He gave specific memo in the 

said confessional statements to that effect. In 

cross- examination of the said Magistrate before 

the trial Court, such position could not be 

shakened by the defense lawyers. Therefore, so 

far as the time of arrest of the accuseds, their 

production before the Magistrate and recording 

of their confessional statements are concerned, 
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we have not found any major irregularity which 

may be regarded as vitiating the said process of 

recording confessional statements as well as the 

said very confessions. Therefore, we have no 

option but to hold that the said accuseds gave 

such confessional statements voluntarily.  

5.7 Now, the question of truthfulness of the said 

confessional statements. It appears that in fact 

the contents of both the confessional statements 

are more or less similar.  However, this similarity 

itself cannot suggest that the same was drafted 

or dictated by same person before making such 

confessional statements as suggested by the 

learned advocate appearing for the accuseds. In 

the retraction application, although filed by a 

lawyer, it has not been stated that the said 

confessional statements were drafted or dictated 

by somebody else and that the accuseds just 

copied the same. Therefore, it appears that this 
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submission of similarity of the confessional 

statements as well as drafting of the same by the 

same person is an afterthought argument as 

devised by the learned advocate appearing for 

the appellants. Therefore, we cannot give too 

much attention to the said submission as the 

same does not seem to have any substance in 

the facts and materials on record. On the other 

hand, it appears that the manner of occurrence, 

as stated in the said confessional statements 

and supported by the surothal report as well as 

the post mortem report, have been duly proved 

by the witnesses. Therefore, we have no option 

but to hold that the contents of the said 

confessional statements are also true. 

Accordingly, we hold that the said confessional 

statements of the said two accuseds are 

voluntary and true in nature. Therefore, the said 

two confessing accuseds may be convicted 
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solely on the basis of the said confessional 

statements with minimum corroborative 

evidences. 

Abdul Hamid Malitha: 

5.8 Now, the question is whether on the basis of the    

said confessions of the two co-accuseds, the 

conviction on Malitha may be sustained. It is true 

that we have long line of decisions of our Apex 

Court that the confession of co-accused is not a 

substantive piece of evidence and the same 

does not come within the purview of the 

definition of the term ‘evidence’ as provided by 

Section 3 of the Evidence Act. Therefore, it has 

been consistently held by the superior Courts of 

this subcontinent that an accused cannot be 

convicted on the basis of such confessional 

statement of co-accused. Rather, such 

confessional statement of co-accused may be 
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taken into consideration in view of the provisions 

under Section 30 of the Evidence Act when there 

are substantive and independent evidences to 

convict an accused. Only then, the confessional 

statement of co-accused may be taken as aid or 

corroboration to strengthen the independent 

evidences already found in favour of guilt of an 

accused. Such ratio has been repeated in the 

decisions cited by the learned advocate 

appearing for this accused, namely the decision 

in State vs. Abdur Rahim, 10 DLR (1958)-61, 

the decisions of our Appellate Division in Amir 

Hossain Hawlader vs. The State, 1984 BLD 

(AD)-193 and Majid Sheikh vs. State, 11 BLC 

(AD)-149. In Majid Sheikh, it has been observed 

by our Appellate Division in the following terms: 

“We are surprised to find that the High Court 

Division per in curium affirmed the judgment 

of conviction of four other accused appellants 

namely, (1) Reza Mollah, (2) Haider Ali, (3) 
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Saken Sarder and (4) Pathar Ali though except 

confessional statement of co-accused Zinnah 

there is no evidence against them. The learned 

Deputy Attorney-General, in such 

circumstances, also found it difficult to oppose 

their appeal. We disapprove such treatment of 

using confessional statement of co-accused 

against other accused to base their conviction 

without any other evidence against them.”   

5.9 There are several other decisions of our 

Superior Courts supporting this ratio. However, 

the Appellant Division has recently taken a 

different approach which has been reflected for 

the first time in the above referred Sukur Ali’s 

case, reported in 74 DLR (AD)-11 followed by 

above referred Noor Mohammad’s Case, 74 

DLR (AD)-170 it has been held therein that the 

confessional statement of a co-accused can be 

used for the purpose crime control against 

other accused persons even if there is a little bit 

of corroboration of that confessional statement 
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by any sort of evidence either direct or 

circumstantial. It appears that in deciding the 

above referred Sukur Ali and Noor 

Mohammad’s Case, the Appellate Division did 

not clearly overrule its previous decisions on 

the same point. Nor did it specifically 

distinguished Sukur Ali and Noor 

Mohammad’s Case from the cases decided by 

it earlier on the same points. Nevertheless, 

absence of such clear message from the 

Appellate Division in the said two cases do not 

bother us that much in this case, particularly 

when it appears that the learned advocate 

appearing for the Abdul Hamid Malitha has 

taken up a different point thereby distinguishing 

his case from the cases decided by the 

Appellate Division in Sukur Ali and Noor 

Mohammad Case. According to him, in the 

present case, the confessions of co-accuseds 
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were retracted confessions. Although, there are 

some irregularities, as pointed out above, in 

such retraction of the said confessional 

statements, it cannot be denied that retraction 

applications were filed on behalf of the said 

confessing accuseds retracting their 

confessions. Therefore, we clearly find this 

case distinguishable from the cases decided by 

the Appellate Division in Sukur Ali and Noor 

Mohammad’s Case.  

5.10.  Additionally, we find support of the submission 

of the learned advocate appearing for accused 

Abdul Hamid Malitha in the case decided by 

our Appellate Division in Amir Hossain 

Howlader vs. State, 37 DLR (AD)-13, wherein 

the Appellate Division has clearly held that as 

against the co-accused, the evidential value of 

a retracted confession is practically nil and in 

absence of strong independent evidence, it is 
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totally useless. Therefore, we are of the view 

that this case is not covered by the ratio 

decided by the Appellate Division in the above 

referrer two cases, namely Sukur Ali’s case 

and Noor Mohammad’s Case. 

5.11 Admittedly, there is no independent 

incriminating evidence which attracts this 

accused closer to the crime. No incriminating 

article was recovered from his possession or on 

the discloser of this accused in view of Section 

27 of the Evidence Act. This accused 

surrendered voluntarily immediately after 

submission of the charge sheet and faced the 

entire trial during which he was on bail. There is 

no allegation of misuse of privilege of bail 

suggesting his criminal mind. Therefore, we are 

of the view that merely because of his 

involvement being mentioned in the 

confessional statements of co-accuseds, he 
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cannot be convicted particularly when there is 

no independent or substantive evidence 

against him which attracts him or connects him 

to the crime. Therefore, we are in full 

agreement with the submission of the learned 

advocate appearing for accused Abdul Hamid 

Malitha that those confessional statements of 

co-accuseds do not at all come within the 

purview of the definition of the ‘evidence’ as 

provided by Section 3 of the Evidence Act, 

particularly when this accused did not have any 

opportunity to cross examine those co-

accuseds on the contents of their confessional 

statements. Accordingly, we hold that this 

accused should get the benefit of doubt in this 

case and we have no option but to hold that the 

prosecution has failed to prove the charge 

against him with any substantive or legal piece 

of evidence beyond reasonable doubt.  
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Section 342 Examination of the Accuseds:  

5.12. It appears from record that although the            

accuseds were examined twice by the trial 

Court under Section 342 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure, the circumstances 

appearing in the evidence against them during 

trial were not at all put to their attention in order 

to seek their explanation in view of the 

provisions under Section 342 of the Code. The 

Legislature has very carefully used the words in 

Sub-section (1) of Section 342 of the Code to 

the effect that “any circumstances appearing in 

the evidence against him” should be put to the 

attention of the accused so that he is able to 

explain such circumstances. That is the only 

opportunity formally given by the statute to the 

accused to defend himself and, through such 

examination, he is entitled to support his 

defense or give explanation as against the said 
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circumstances appearing in the evidences 

against him.  

5.13.  In this regard, it should be noted that this Court 

has in the meantime elaborately discussed 

different views of the superior Courts of the 

sub-continent including our Appellate Division 

in an unreported Death Reference case, 

namely in Death Reference No. 136 of 2016 

(State Vs. Md. Nurul Islam). In doing so, this 

Court has clearly held that the first test in such  

a situation is to determine whether because of 

non-compliance of the provisions under Section 

342 of the Code, any prejudice has occurred to 

the defense of the accused and, upon such 

test, if it is found that in fact the defense has 

been prejudiced because of such non-

compliance,  only then the Court has some 

options open to it. Namely, it may send the 

case on remand to the trial Court for re-
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examination of the accused under Section 342 

of the Code, as the said approach has been 

approved by the Appellate Division in Shohel 

Vs. State, 63 DLR (AD)-105 and in unreported 

majority decision of the Appellate Division in 

Criminal Appeal No. 40 of 2008. However, at 

the time of delivery of the said judgment, this 

Court did not notice another decision of our 

Appellate Division, namely the judgment 

delivered on 14.07.2021 in Md. Abdul Awal 

Khan vs. The State, 16 SCOB [2022] AD-22, 

wherein the majority view of the Appellate 

Division was that such non-compliance would 

in some cases vitiate the trial. It may again be 

mentioned here that each case is decided on 

its unique facts. Therefore, the cases decided 

by the Appellate Division on different set of 

facts cannot be exactly applied to the facts in 

this case. In the above referred Md. Abdul 
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Awal Khan’s case, apart from non-compliance 

of Section 342 of the Code, there was another 

vital missing point in the prosecution evidences, 

namely that the prosecution failed to prove the 

minimum presence of the accused at home 

when his wife was allegedly killed by him.  

5.14.  In the present case, admittedly, none of the 

circumstances appearing in the evidence 

against any of the accuseds was referred to 

them during the said examination under 

Section 342 of the Code. In case of accuseds 

Salam and Jamil, the trial Court only mentioned 

that they had made confessional statements. 

However, the contents of the said confessional 

statements were not put to their attention 

seeking their explanation. In case of accused 

Malitha, even the confessional statements of 

his co-accuseds were not referred to him, 

although that were the only basis for his 
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conviction. Therefore, such examination by the 

trial Court in such a slip-shod manner cannot in 

anyway be held to be compliance of the 

mandatory provisions of Section 342 of the 

Code. Although, some of the defects in Section 

342 examination are curable under Section 537 

of the Code if it is found that such non-

compliance did not cause any prejudice to the 

defense of accused, in the present case, we 

have no doubt to hold that the nature or extent 

of non-compliance has in fact caused prejudice 

to the defense of the accuseds during trial. 

5.15.  However, the mistake causing such defect was 

done by the trial judge himself and not by the 

prosecution or by anybody involved in the said 

trial. It is frustrating to note that a senior judge 

like an Additional Sessions Judge in the 

present case has even not read properly the 

provisions of Section 342 of the Code and he 
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has miserably failed to comply with the said 

provisions. A mistake committed by the trial 

judge has got nothing to do with the victim or 

any party to the case before trial Court, namely 

the State. We are of the view that the parties to 

the case should not suffer because of the 

mistake or incompetence of the trial judge 

concerned. In this regard, we have come 

across a decision of the Indian Supreme Court 

in Shivaji vs. State of Maharashtra, A.I.R., 

1973 S.C.-2622 and the author judge of same 

was none other than the late legend Justice 

V.R. Krishna Iyer. In elaborating several 

aspects of such non-compliance of Section 342 

by the trial judge, his Lordship has observed 

that such lacuna or loop-holes caused because 

of the mistake of the trial judge may be filled up 

during appeal hearing by asking the learned 

advocates appearing for the convicts before the 
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appellate Court as to the probable reply of the 

convict to such circumstances appeared in 

evidences against him. The relevant 

observation of his lordship Mr. Justice V.R. 

Krishna Iyer in paragraph 16 of the said 

reported case may be reproduced below: 

“16………………. We may notice here a serious 

omission committed by the trial Judge and not 

noticed by either court. The pants allegedly worn at 

the time of the attack by the second accused has 

stains of blood relatable to the group of the 

deceased. This circumstance binds him to the crime 

a little closer but it is unfortunate that no specific 

question about this circumstance has been put to 

him by the court. It is trite law, nevertheless 

fundamental, that the prisoner’s attention should be 

drawn to every inculpatory material so as to enable 

him to explain it. This is the basic fairness of a 

criminal trial and failures in this area may gravely 

imperil the validity of the trial itself, if consequential 

miscarriage of justice has flowed. However, where 

such an omission has occurred it does not ipso facto 

vitiate the proceedings and prejudice occasioned by 
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such defect must be established by the accused. In 

the event of evidentiary material not being put to the 

accused, the court must ordinarily eschew such 

material from consideration. It is also open to the 

appellate court to call upon the counsel for the 

accused to show what explanation the accused has 

as regards the circumstances established against 

him but not put to him and if the accused is unable 

to offer the appellate court any plausible or 

reasonable explanation of such circumstances, the 

court may assume that no acceptable answer exists 

and that even if the accused had been questioned at 

the proper time in the trial court he would not have 

been able to furnish any good ground to get out of 

the circumstances on which the trial court had 

relied for its conviction. In such a case, the court 

proceeds on the footing that though a grave 

irregularity has occurred as regards compliance 

with Section 342, Cr.P.C., the omission has not been 

shown to have caused prejudice to the accused. In 

the present case, however, the High Court, though 

not the trial court has relied upon the presence of 

blood on the pants of the blood group of the 

deceased. We have not been shown what 

explanation the accused could have offered to this 
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chemical finding particularly when we remember 

that his answer to the question regarding the human 

blood on the blade of the knife was ‘I do not know’. 

Counsel for the appellants could not make out any 

intelligent explanation and the ‘blood’ testimony 

takes the crime closer to the accused. However, we 

are not inclined to rely over much on this 

evidentiary circumstance, although we should 

emphasis how this inadvertence of the trial court 

had led to a relevant fact being argued as 

unavailable to the prosecution. Great care is 

expected of Sessions Judges who try grave cases to 

collect every incriminating circumstance and put it 

to the accused even though at the end of a long trial 

the Judge may be a little fagged out.”  

 

5.16.  We also find support of this approach in a 

recent decision of the Indian Supreme Court in 

Nar Singh vs. State of Horyana (2015) 1SCC-

496. In Nar Singh, the Indian Supreme Court, 

after examining all the previous decisions on 

the point, has held as follows: 
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30. Whenever a plea of omission to put a question to 

the accused on vital piece of evidence is raised in 

the appellate court, courses available to the 

appellate court can be briefly summarised as under: 

30.1. Whenever a plea of non-compliance with 

Section 3.13 CrPC is raised, it is within the power 

of the appellate court to examine and further 

examine the convict or the counsel appearing for the 

accused and the said answers shall be taken into 

consideration for deciding the matter. If the accused 

is unable to offer the appellate court any reasonable 

explanation of such circumstances, the court may 

assume that the accused has no acceptable 

explanation to offer.  

30.2 In the facts and circumstances of the case, if 

the appellate court comes to the conclusion that no 

prejudice was caused or no failure of justice was 

occasioned, the appellate court will hear and decide 

the matter upon merits.  
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30.3 If the appellate court is of the opinion that non-

compliance with the provisions of Section 313 CrPC 

has occasioned or is likely to have occasioned 

prejudiced to the accused, the appellate Court may 

direct retrial from the stage of recording the 

statements of the accused from the point where the 

irregularity occurred, that is, from the stage of 

questioning the accused under Section 313 CrPC 

and the trial Judge may be directed to examine the 

accused afresh and defence witness, if any, and 

disposed of the matter afresh.      

30.4. The appellate court may decline to remit the 

matter to the trial court for retrial on account 

of long time already spent in the trial of the 

case and the period of sentence already 

undergone by the convict and in the facts and 

circumstances of the case, may decide the 

appeal on its own merits, keeping in view the 

prejudice caused to the accused.    
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5.17.  As stated above, our view is that the victim, 

state or any of the parties to a criminal case 

should not suffer because of the mistake of the 

trial judge and such mistake of the trial judge 

should be allowed to be cured by the judge or 

judges hearing appeal against judgment 

delivered by such judge. Therefore, in the 

course of hearing, we have allowed the learned 

advocates appearing for the appellants to seek 

instructions from their clients and to file written 

reply on their behalf by way of affidavit as 

against the circumstances appeared in the 

evidences against them during trial. 

Accordingly, the appellants have filed three 

written replies by way of affidavit through their 

nearest Todbirkars in the following way: 

(a) On behalf of the appellant Md. Abdus Salam 

Sheikh, his father Md. Mohasin Ali has shown 
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affidavit and forwarded the reply of the appellant 

in the following terms: 

“Avgvi bvg †gvt Avt mvjvg †kL, wcZv †gvt gnwmb †kL, mvwKb 
†MvqvjMÖvg, _vbv †`ŠjZcyi, †Rjvt Kzwóqv| Avwg †ckvq GKRb K…lK| 
AÎ gvgjvq Avwg m¤ú~b© wb‡ ©̀vl| Avwg ivwÎ Kvjxb wbR N‡i ï‡q 
Nygvw”Qjvg nVvr `iRv Lyj‡Z e‡j Avwg `iRv Ly‡j w`B Ges N‡ii 
evwn‡i G‡m †`wL kvwnb I wZbRb wWwe cywjk cwiPq †`q, Avgv‡K 
†PvL †e‡a wb‡q hvq| 11/03/2022 Bs Zvwi‡L Avgv‡K cÖ_‡g GK 
evwo‡Z wb‡q cÖPzi gviai K‡i Ges nv‡Zi Av½y‡j muyB †XvKvB e‡j ej 
Avwg Lwei‡K †g‡iwQ bv n‡j †Zv‡K †g‡i †dj‡ev Avwg ZLb Ávb k~b¨ 
Ae ’̄vq wK e‡jwQ Zv Avwg Rvwbbv| Avevi Ab¨ evox‡Z wb‡q hvq 
Avev‡iv gviai K‡i| ‡Zv‡K Avgiv †g‡iwQ GK_v g¨vwR‡óª‡Ui Kv‡Q 
ej‡j wigv‡Û wb‡q AviI gvi‡ev| ZvB Avwg gv‡ii f‡q ¯̂xKvi Kwi 
wKš‘ Avwg wK e‡jwQ Zvnv wb‡R ej‡Z ci‡evbv| Zviv wb‡Riv wj‡L 
Avgv‡K mwn Ki‡Z e‡j ZLb Avgvi Ávb wQj| Avwg mwn bv Kwi‡Z 
PvB‡j Avev‡iv gviai K‡i KvM‡R mwn Kwiqv †bq| Avgvi AveŸv 
Avgv‡K †Rj Lvbv †`L‡Z wM‡q wRÁvmv K‡i †Kv_vq wQ‡j? Avwg 
AveŸv‡K ewj ỳB wZb evwo‡Z wb‡q wQj wKš‘ †Kvb †Kvb MÖvg Zv ej‡Z 
cvwi‡evbv| MZ 10/03/2012 Zvwi‡L cywjk Avgv‡K †MÖdZvi K‡i 
_vbvq AvUK K‡i AgvbywlK wbh©vZb Ki‡Z _v‡K Ges Lwei DwÏb 
nZ¨vi mv‡_ Avwg RwoZ g‡g© ¯̂xKv‡ivw³ cÖ̀ vb Ki‡Z e‡j|  

‡`ŠjZcyi _vbvi `v‡ivMv Gm AvB ¯̂cb Kzgvi `vm Ges g„Z Lwei 
DwÏ‡bi mšÍvb ¯^c‡bi Bkvivq I †hvMmvR‡m Avgv‡K _vbvq AvUK K‡i 
gviwcV wbh©vZb K‡i Ges Avwg GB nZv¨vKv‡Ûi †Kvb wKQzB Rvwbbv g‡g© 
ej‡j cywjk Avgv‡K µm dvqv‡ii fq †`Lvq| 

g„Z Lwei DwÏ‡bi nZ¨vKv‡Ûi wKQz w`b c~‡e© Lwei DwÏ‡bi fvwZRv 
RvwK‡ii mv‡_ Avgvi gvivgvwi nq Ges Zvnv ’̄vbxq fv‡e wggvsmv n‡q 
hvq cieZ©x‡Z Avwg fz‡j hvB wKš‘ Lwei DwÏ‡bi †Q‡j †gvt kvwnb 
Avgv‡K kvmvq Ges e‡j †h †Zv‡`i mgqgZ †R‡ji fvZ LvIqv‡ev, 
Avwg cywj‡k PvKzix Kwi| †Zv‡`i kv‡q¯Ív Ki‡Z Avgvi Kv‡Q †Kvb 
e¨vcviB bv|  



75 

 

Death Reference No. 34 of 2017 (Judgment dated 4th and 5th December, 2022) 

 

_vbvq AvUK K‡i Avgvi Dci †h AZ¨vPvi n‡Z _v‡K Zvnv mn¨ Ki‡Z 
bv †c‡i Avwg AÁvb n‡q cwo GKvwaKevi AZci Avwg ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ 
Ki‡Z ivwR nB hv m¤ú~b© Avgvi †¯^”Qv cª‡bvw`Z wQj bv, ïaygvÎ 
cywj‡ki AZ¨vPvi n‡Z f‡q Zvnv K‡iwQjvg Ges cieZ©x‡Z Avwg Zvnv 
cÖZ¨vnvi Kwi| 

wePvwiK Av`vj‡Z Avwg b¨vq wePvi cvB bvB| wePvi †k‡l mKj mv¶x 
†kl nBevi ci wePviK †Kvb †Kvb mv¶xB Zv‡`i mv¶¨ Øviv cÖgvb 
Ki‡Z cv‡i bvB| GgbwK Avgvi ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³i Kvi‡bB GB gvgjvi mvRv 
n‡Z hv‡”Q ZvnvI cwoqv †kvbvq bvB| 

ïaygvÎ ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³i Kvi‡bB AÎ gvgjvq Awfhy³ n‡qwQ hvnv 
cÖZ¨vnviK…Z Ges †¯̂”QvcÖ‡bvw`Z bq| Avwg ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³i dj ev cwibvg 
bv eywSqvB g¨vwR‡óª‡Ui wbKU ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ Kwi| hvnv cywjk Avgv‡K †Rvi 
K‡i Kwi‡qwQj| 

AZGe ïaygvÎ ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³i Dci wfwË K‡i AvwbZ Awf‡hvM wg_¨v Ges 
Avwg wb‡ ©̀vl| ” 

(b) In case of accused Md. Jamil Mondol, his  

niece Mst. Rohima Khatun has sworn affidavit 

and forwarded his reply in the following terms: 

“‡gvt Rvwgj DwÏb, wcZvt †gvt ˆQgywÏb gÛj, mvs- †MvqvjMÖvg, _vbv-
‡`ŠjZcyi, †Rjv-Kzwóqv| 

GB g‡g© Av‡e`b Kwi‡ZwQ †h, †`ŠjZcyi _vbvi cywjk I g„Z Lwei 
DwÏb Gi †Q‡j †gvt kvwnb I Zv‡`i Bkvivq MZ 7/3/2012 Zvwi‡L 
Avgv‡K _vbvq jBqv hvq Ges †Mvcbfv‡e _vbvq AvUK K‡i iv‡L| 
AZtci _vbvi wfZ‡i ¯̂cb `v‡ivMvi ûKz‡g I Bkvivq cywjk Avgv‡K 
gviwcU, wbh©vZb K‡i Ges AbeiZ Pvc cÖ‡qvM Ki‡Z _v‡K, GB e‡j 
†h, Avwg ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ bv Kwi‡j Avgv‡K µm dvqv‡i w`‡q w`‡e, Kv‡RB 
ÓAvgiv; †hBfv‡e ewj †mBfv‡e g¨vwR‡óªU Gi wbKU Lwei‡K nZ¨v 
K‡iwQÓ g‡g© ¯̂xKv‡ivw³ w`‡Z e‡j|  

Avwg _vbvq `v‡ivMvi wbKU GKvwaKevi A¯x̂Kvi Kwi †h, D³ nZ¨vKvÛ 
m¤ú‡K© Avwg wKQzB Rvwb bv, Avgvi gvgvZ fvB Avt mvjv‡gi mv‡_ g„Z 
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Lwei DÏx‡bi fvwZRv RvwK‡ii mvgvb¨ Sv‡gjv nq| wKšÍy Zvnv mvwj‡ki 
gva¨‡g †kl nB‡jI g„Z Lwei DÏx‡bi †Q‡j †gvt kvwnb whwb cywj‡ki 
PvKzix K‡i †m Avgv‡K I Avgvi gvgvZ fvB mvjvg‡K kvmvq Ges e‡j 
†Zv‡`i mKj‡K †`wLqv Qvo‡ev, Avwg cywj‡k PvKix Kwi e‡j gvivgvwi 
Ki‡Z bv cvi‡jI my‡hv‡Mi A‡c¶vq AvwQ, fwel¨‡Z †Zv‡`i Avwg 
†R‡ji fvZ LvIqv‡q Qvo‡ev| AZci cywj‡ki `v‡ivMv Avgvi †Kvb 
K_v bv ïwbqv Avgv‡K †e`g cÖnvi I AgvbywlK AZ¨vPvi gviwcU Ki‡Z 
_v‡K Ges K‡qKevi AÁvb n‡q hvB| Avgv‡K †Kvb cÖKvi Lvevi 
GgbwK cvwb ch©šÍ cvb Ki‡Z †`q bv| Avwg wbiycvq n‡q ¯̂xKv‡ivw³ 
Kwi Ges Gi d‡j Avgvi wK n‡Z cv‡i †mB m¤ú‡K© Avgvi †Kvbiƒc 
avibvB bvB, Avwg Rxe‡b GB cÖ_g GB kã ïwbqvwQ, Avwg g‡b Kwi †h, 
¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ Ki‡j hw` G‡`i nvZ n‡Z AšÍZ RxebUv i¶v cv‡e ZvB 
wbi“cvq n‡q ¯̂xKv‡ivw³ Ki‡Z Avwg ivwR nB, Avwg hw` ¯̂xKv‡ivw³i 
dj ev cwibvg eywS‡Z cvwiZvg Zvn‡j GB ¯̂xKv‡ivw³ KiZvg bv| 
AZtci Avwg D³ ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ cÖZ¨vnvi Kwi †Kbbv GB nZ¨vKv‡Ûi 
mwnZ †Kvb fv‡eB RwoZ b‡n|  

AZtci wePvi PjvKvjxb mv¶xi mv¶¨ MÖnbKv‡j †Kvb mv¶xB Avgvi 
m¤ú‡K© †Kvb cÖKvi mv¶¨ cÖgvbw` Dc ’̄vcb Ki‡Z cv‡i bvB †Kbbv, 
Avgvi wei“‡× AvbxZ mKj Awf‡hvM wg_¨v I ev‡bvqvU, Avgv‡K w`‡q 
†h ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ Kivq hvnv †¯^”QvcÖ‡Yvw`Z b‡n Ges Avgvi m¤ú~Y© B”Qvi 
weiæ‡× Kiv‡bv nq| Avwg ïaygvÎ ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³i `i“b AÎ gvgjvq 
Avmvgx n‡qwQ, mv¶¨ MÖnY †k‡l wePvwiK Av`vjZ Avgv‡K Avgvi 
¯x̂Kv‡ivw³ cvV Kwiqv ïbvB‡j Avwg wjwLZ Reve †ck KwiZvg myZivs 

Avwg AÎ gvgjvq m¤ú‡K© wKQzB Rvwb bv Ges Avwg wb‡ ©̀vl|” 

 

(C) In case of accused Abdul Hamid Malitha, 

the son of the appellant, Md. Sojibur Rahman, 

has sworn affidavit and forwarded his reply in 

following terms:  
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“eRjy Avmvgx nvwg` gvwj_vi dzdv‡Zv fvB| eRjyi gUi N‡i g„Z Lwei 

cvnviv w`‡Zv| Lwe‡ii Av‡M Avmvgx mvjvg GB gUi Ni cvnviv w`‡Zv| 

Avmvgx mvjvg Avi eRjy PvPv-fvwZRv| cvBKvi es‡ki †Q‡ji mv‡_ 

Avmvgx mvjv‡gi gvivgvwi nq| Zvi bvg RvwKi | †mUv wb‡q c‡i mvwjk 

nq D³ mvwj‡k nvwg` gvwj_v RvwK‡ii c‡¶ K_v e‡j Ges mvjv‡gi 

mv‡_ †mLv‡bB K_v KvUvKvwU nq| ZLb †_‡KB mvjv‡gi mv‡_ nvwg` 

gvwj_vi kµZv wQj Ges mvjvg cÖwZ‡kva †bqvi K_v ej‡Zv| 

Aciw`‡K mvjvg Rvwg‡ji wbKUvZ¥xq Ges me mgq GKmv‡_ Pj‡Zv| 

GB Ae¯’vq hLb Lwei DwÏb gvW©vi nq Ges mvjvg I Rvwgj cywj‡ki 

nv‡Z a„Z nq, ZLb Zviv ỳR‡bB civgk© K‡iB nvwg` gvwj_vi bvg 

Zv‡`i ¯x̂Kv‡ivw³g~jK Revbe›`x‡Z e‡j| Avmvgx nvwg` gvwj_vi eo 

fvB Imgvb Mwb we‡`‡k _v‡K| D³ Imgvb Mwb we‡`‡k _vKvq KvwRg 

gvóv‡ii eo †Q‡j †njv‡ji mv‡_ Imgvb Mwbi ¿̄xi A‰ea †cÖ‡gi m¤úK© 

ˆZix nq| †mUv c‡i RvbvRvwb nIqvi Kvi‡b KvwRg gvóv‡ii mv‡_ 

nvwg` gvwj_vi kÎ“Zvi m„wó nq| KvwRg gvóvi cvBKvi es‡ki 

gvZzeŸi Ges cvBKvi es‡ki me wKQz mvgvwRK fv‡e cwiPvwjZ n‡q 

KvwRg gvóv‡ii †bZ…‡Z¡| GLv‡b D‡j−L¨ †h, g„Z LweiI cvBKvi 

es‡ki †jvK| †h‡nZz KvwRg gvóv‡ii mv‡_ Av‡M †_‡KB Avmvgx nvwg` 

gvwj_vq GKUv kÎ“Zvi wQ‡jv, †mKvi‡b D³ KvwRg gvóv‡ii BÜ‡b 

ev`x (Lwe‡ii ¿̄x) NUbvi 8 w`b c‡i Ab¨ Avmvgx‡`i mv‡_ GB 

Avmvgxi bvg D‡j−L K‡i Awf‡hvM `v‡qi K‡i| cÖK…Zc‡¶, Avmvgx 

nvwg` gvwj_v AÎ NUbvi mv‡_ RwoZ bv|”   

 

5.18.  In the above replies given by the accuseds 

Salam and Jamil, they have reiterated their 
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same position that they were innocent and that 

they were tortured for the purpose of giving 

confessional statements and that they were 

illegally detained. However, this aspect of their 

allegation has already been addressed in detail 

by this Court in our judgment and we have held 

that we have not found anything on record in 

support of such allegation. The further reply of 

accuseds Salam and Jamil is that the son of 

deceased was a police constable and as such 

he influenced the police against them or that he 

was present at the time of arrest. We have 

already described the deposition of the son of 

the deceased, namely Md. Shaheen (P.W.10). 

The defence got ample opportunity to cross 

examine him as well as the investigating officer 

(P.W.11), but could not extort anything in 

support of their such allegation. Again they 

have mentioned about retraction of their 
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confessional statements. This aspect has also 

been addressed by this Court in our judgment 

in detail. Therefore, we are of the view that by 

this written reply before this appellate Court in 

view of the provisions under Section 342 of the 

Code of Criminal Procedure, they have not 

pointed out anything which should be 

addressed by us separately. Accordingly, we 

have no option but to hold now that they were 

in fact not prejudiced by non-compliance of 

Section 342 by the trial Court.  

5.19.  In the reply given by or on behalf of accused  

Abdul Hamid Malidha, it has been stated that 

because of previous enmity with accused 

Salam, Malitha was implicated in the 

confessional statement and that he was not 

involved in the alleged offence at all. Since we 

have already observed that the prosecution has 

failed to prove the charge against Malitha 
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beyond reasonable doubt on the basis of any 

independent evidence and that Malitha is 

entitled to get benefit of doubt, we are of the 

view that his present reply is not that much 

material for reaching our conclusion. 

Accordingly, we refrain from making any 

observation on such reply of Malitha.  

 

5.20.  It may be noted that we have adopted the 

above approach thereby seeking explanations 

from the appellants in the course of appeal 

hearing only to avoid further injustice to the 

parties to the case. If we hold that because of 

such non-compliance, defence has been 

prejudiced and as such the trial has been 

vitiated, the convicts will get undue benefit of  

acquittal which will cause injustice to the victim 

and the State. On the other hand, if we take the 

approach of sending the case on remand to the 
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trial Court for re-examination of the appellants 

under Section 342 of the Code, that will cause 

further delay, particularly when the appellants 

have already been in jail for about ten years 

including five years in condemned cell. To 

avoid such injustice which may be caused to 

either of the parties or the victims, we are of the 

view that the Appellate Courts should, from 

now on, take recourse to this approach in order 

to avoid further injustice to the parties given 

that the mistake was in fact caused by the trial 

judge and such mistake should be allowed to 

be corrected by the judges sitting on the 

Appellate Court.  

5.21.  Upon considering and examining the 

explanations given by the appellants by way of 

affidavits, we are finally of the view that 

because of non-compliance of Section 342 of 

the Code, no prejudice has in fact occurred to 
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the defense of the convicts. Accordingly, such 

defects or non-compliance is curable under 

Section 537 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

and, accordingly, the same is cured at this 

appellate stage. 

Conclusion: 

5.22.  In view of facts and law discussed above, we 

are of the view that the prosecution has 

successfully proved the charges against 

accuseds Md. Abdus Salam Sheikh and Md. 

Jamil Mondol beyond reasonable doubt and as 

such we do not find any material to interfere 

into their convictions under Sections 302/34 of 

the Penal Code. However, considering the 

admitted position that they have already spent 

ten years in jail including their imprisonment of 

near about 06 (six) years in condemned cell 

because of prolonged trial as well as delay in 

death reference hearing and that they are of 
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tender age, we are of the view that sentences 

of death on them as imposed by the trial Court 

should be commuted to life imprisonment. On 

the other hand, since the prosecution has failed 

to prove the charge against accused Abdul 

Hamid Malitha beyond reasonable doubt, his 

conviction and sentence should be set aside 

and, accordingly, he should be acquitted and 

released.  

 

Orders of the Court:   

1) This Death Reference No. 34 of 2017 in 

respect of all the convicts is rejected.  

 

2) The Criminal Appeal No. 3188 of 2017, as 

preferred by the appellant Md. Abdus Salam 

Sheikh and Md. Jamil Mondol, is dismissed. 

Thus, the conviction under Sections 302/34 of 

the Penal Code against them is, hereby, 

affirmed. However, the sentence of death, as 
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imposed by the trial Court on them, is 

commuted to the sentences of life 

imprisonment and the convicts shall get the 

benefit of Section 35A of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure for the period they have been in 

custody in the meantime. The jail appeals, 

being Jail Appeal No. 107 of 2017 and Jail 

Appeal No. 109 of 2017, as preferred by them 

are disposed of accordingly.  

 

  

3) The authorities concerned, including the Jail 

Authority, are directed to withdraw the convicts, 

Md. Abdus Salam Sheikh, son of late Md. 

Mohashin Sheikh of Village-Gowalgram, Police 

Station-Daulatpur, District-Kushtia and  Md. 

Jamil Mondol, son of Md. Joymuddin Mondol 

of Village-Gowalgram, Police Station-

Daulatpur, District-Kushtia, from the 
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condemned cell immediately and shift them to 

the general prison.  

 

4) The Criminal Appeal No. 3459 of 2017, as 

preferred by the appellant Abdul Hamid 

Malitha, is allowed. Accordingly, the impugned 

judgment and order dated 15.03.2017, as 

delivered in Sessions Case No. 437 of 2012 

convicting this appellant under Sections 302/34 

of the Penal Code and sentencing him to death, 

are hereby set aside. Accordingly, the appellant 

Abdul Hamid Malitha is acquitted. His jail 

appeal, being Jail Appeal No. 108 of 2017, is, 

thus, disposed of. 

 

  

5) The authorities concerned, including the Jail 

Authority, are directed to release the appellant 

Abdul Hamid Malitha, son of late Nazir 

Malitha of village-Gowalgram, Police Station-
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Daulatpur, District-Kushtia immediately, if he is 

not wanted in connection with any other case. 

    

Let an advance order be issued communicating the 

above result.  

Send down the lower Court records immediately.  

 

 

 

……………………….......  
(Sheikh Hassan Arif, J) 
 
 
 

 

 

      I agree.                                  
……….…………..…...                
(Biswajit Debnath, J) 

       


